FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 6/7/2022 4:57 PM

In re marriage of:

CLAIRE REILLY-SHAPIRO

ANTHONY LOMBARDO

Respondent:

And Appellant:

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/8/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12 13

14

15 16

17

18 19

20

21

22

23

24

2526

27

28

101000-1 No. 82722-7

The Court of Appeal of the State of Washington: Division I and Its Supreme Court

Petition for Discretionary Review by Supreme Court of the Court of Appeals due to Transcription not Being Received

Issues Presented For Review

2

1

3

5

6 7

8

10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18

19

20

22

23

2425

26

27

28

I am Petitioning the Supreme Court of the Court of Appeals to not dismiss the Appeals Case as the Appellate Court has done, because the transcript was not received in a timely manner. The Appeals Court Division 1 or the Supreme Court of Appeals should hear/see the transcript of this case given its merit for review. The transcriptionist in this case, allegedly has done the only thing she could possible have done in order to get this case dismissed before it is heard and reviewed. I can think of no other logical explanation why a court recommended transcriptionist, paid upfront, would miss 12 of her own often sworn, written and chosen deadlines for filing. (See Appendix). So the question for the Supreme Court, and thus our county, is what happens when a court recommended transcriptionist decides to continually swear to the court in affidavits that she will file a transcription on a certain date, and then does not, knowing full well doing so will result in dismissal? In other words, what happens to the innocent citizens, when if someone the court itself has put on a list of providers, decides to take justice fully and totally into her own hands? Should my children suffer, and their case not be reviewed? Clearly time to get the case transcribed by someone that does not lie to the court, and surgically delays through extension requests, is in order versus dismissal, without the clear injustices on record being brought for review. The case itself, once heard and reviewed through transcription, has clear issues of parental gender inequity, perjury, omission to statutory reasons for limitation, the very ones used to limit me, by the opposition, etc. etc. The case is also riddled with issues resulting from early zoom trials where infant children are on the line. First, we must allow the case to be transcribed by another transcriber, given the first one has missed 12 written, 5 sworn, deadlines for filing, resulting in quite literally the only way this case would not be reviewed. We must stand up and

ask ourselves: for whatever reason, corruption, threats, political opinion, if all transcriptionists missed 6 straight sworn deadlines for filing, what would the Appeals court do then? Dismiss them all? Hardly. We have a loophole here where transcribers have the **power**, if done precisely as Ms. Thompson has done, to have cases never reviewed and dismissed before the record sees light of day. Clearly the dogma of the Appellate and Supreme Court itself, does not support one person being able to obstruct the judicial process for children, much less if that person is recommended for use by the courts.

1

2 3

4

5

6

7 8

10

11

12

13

14

15 16

17

18 19

20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

Statement of the Case

A Superior Court case has had its chance to be reviewed eliminated solely because a court recommended transcriptionist has decided, for whatever reason, to miss 6 sworn affidavit court deadlines for filing. Her well-spaced out throughout last fall, continual requests to extend filing deadlines, but then continually not filing, has quite systematically resulted in the case being dismissed, as she was warned. Since missing her 6th sworn deadline to the Appellate Court of December 31st, she has roughly every three weeks, as can be seen in both previous motion filings and in the appendix herein, said she needs more time in writing. As of end of May, had still not filed the transcription, just recently asking for a few more time. Ms. Thompson continued for months to not to supply file she previously said via email was filed, nor deliver the file in the "almost done" condition she claims to prove progress. (See Appendix) Clearly there is only one rational explanation for all of this, and the answer is something that is not in my control, nor my children's. The transcriptionist knew the Court would dismiss the case if she missed her fifth sworn deadline of December 31st 2021, and chose to do just that. The appellate court dismissed the case on February 13th, and has denied motion to reconsider that dismissal as of May 3rd. Meanwhile my children are being left in unlocked cars unattended for 15 minutes on 18th Street, put in 22 degree cars in t-shirts for a car ride to school at 8am, and taken to school with COVID to infect others, all in the last month or two, all by third parties, whom apparently are all better for the children I raised, according to the honorable Judge Rosen. I have quite literally had paramedics in my home giving air to my child after being at pre-school all day with symptoms against protocols recently. Meanwhile, myself, the person limited with the children, is asked to care for the boys each and every time they require it, on mother's time. Reality completely disputes the opposition's narrative to the court that helped create its decision, and

1	thus my children suffer. This case must be reviewed, regardless of the pattern of actions	s of Ms.
2	Thompson.	
3		
4		
5		
6		
7		
8		
9		
LO		
L1		
L2		
L3		
L4		
L5		
L6		
L7		
L8		
L9		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		

Argument

2

1

3

5

6

7

8

9

10 11

12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24

25

26

27

28

I would never appeal a case without merit. The only way for this case to be reviewed is with a transcript. I used a court recommended transcriptionist. I paid her upfront. I respected her needs to delay filing and ask for extensions five times. As soon as I found out she missed her 6th deadline, December 31st, I asked her what was going on. She said she would be done a week or so later via email (See Appendix). She repeated this behavior throughout March. On March 6th, Ms. Thompson said in an email in March she had filed the transcription, then could not give confirmation and the court confirmed no reception. Ms. Thompson delayed again this May, and refused to send the file she claimed was "almost done" for months. Clearly, Ms. Thompson has systematically done the only actions she could to have the transcript not see the light of day and thus case dismissed. I claim allowing a third party to totally control an appeals case is wrong, especially if they are court recommended. Remedy must be made here. This is a constitutional issue as well as a public interest issue. No transcriptionist should have sole power to silence justice. Our constitution grants us the right to appeal, and I have followed all guidelines myself which I was in control of, and kept up all financial and care responsibilities since final orders, and then some. There are many people that do not want the transcript seen by Appellate Judges for good reason. Are you going to stand by and let that happen? Opposition will say I should pay their appeals counsel, before the transcript was seen by anyone, in the hopes that the case is now dismissed. I claim there is a reason Ms. Thompson has done what she has, and no one, other than her should be penalized. We have wasted 9 months waiting for transcript. I was beyond understanding and so was the court. We need to move on, and the case needs to be reviewed like all others.

Conclusion

2

1

3 4

5

6

7

8

10

11

12

13 14

15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

2425

26

27

28

I was respectful and patient with a court recommended third party. If a transcriptionist wanted to write a "How to Get A Case Dismiss Without Having It Reviewed" book, it would lay out asking via affidavit the court five times in a row for an extension, about every 2-4 weeks, receiving those extensions, having the court warn her about dismissal after 4 months of that if the file is not received by end of year, and then her not filing it then. Clearly, only someone wishing the case not be heard and reviewed, would proceed in that manner. We must eliminate the loophole, and allow the Appellate, especially during a pandemic influenced totally digital family shaping trial, to prove beyond a doubt that there is a clear problem with our transcriptionist beyond any logical expiation otherwise, move off the problem transcriptionist, and have the time obtain a transcription that can be reviewed by the Courts. I am asking that I have a month to obtain the transcription, and that the Appellate Court or Supreme Court review the case as planned up until it's February decision not to proceed. The children in this case have no idea nor any affiliation whatsoever that the transcriptionist has allegedly taken it upon herself to try to prevent the case from being reviewed for months. Yet as I write this, I have spent part or all of 10 out of the last 12 days caring for my children, the man that needs to be limited apparently all the sudden, after raising the boys for over 2 year 100% of the time since birth, and 50% of the time in temporary orders. This is as absurd as the kids not getting the chance for appeal because a court recommended transcriptionist missed 12 of her own directed deadlines. Kindly, the reasons for all the above absurd paradox are the same, and as a father and citizen, we need the Court to review the case I have sitting in front of me on CD. If opposition did not get caught lying under oath, did not admit to Domestic Violence and Abuse of Conflict, and forgot tell a DVPO judge she attacked me in my home the night before she spoke to him, if witnesses