FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/8/2022 12:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101000-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

CLAIRE REILLY-SHAPIRO,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY S. LOMBARDO,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

A. Introduction.

The Court of Appeals properly dismissed review of a parenting plan, entered more than 15 months ago, when petitioner repeatedly failed to comply with the Court's multiple orders requiring the report of proceedings be filed by a date certain. While petitioner blames the transcriptionist and her failure to timely prepare the report of proceedings, it is petitioner's own lack of diligence and willful violation of the Court's orders that caused the Court of Appeals to exercise its discretion to dismiss review.

The Court of Appeals' exercise of its discretionary authority to dismiss review for petitioner's failure to follow the Court's orders provides no basis for this Court's review. The Court of Appeals decision enforcing its own orders "to secure the fair and orderly review of a case" under RAP 7.3, and sanctioning a party under RAP 18.9 by dismissing an appeal, does not involve an "issue of substantial public interest," does not conflict with any appellate court decisions, and does not raise a significant question of law under the constitution. RAP 13.4(b).

B. The Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner is seeking review of the Court of Appeals' decision denying his motion to modify the commissioner's ruling dismissing his appeal for his failure to timely file the report of proceedings. (App. 1-2) Prior to dismissal, the petitioner was granted multiple extensions, and was expressly warned on December 17, 2021 that if "the report of proceedings is not filed by December 30, 2021, this case will be dismissed without further notice of this Court." (App. 68)

Despite this warning, the report of proceedings was not filed on December 30, 2021, and the petitioner took no action in his appeal for more than five weeks, finally causing the commissioner to "consider this case abandoned" and dismissing his appeal. (App. 1) Even after the commissioner dismissed his appeal, petitioner took no action until March 7, 2022, when he filed his motion to modify the commissioner's ruling, which the Court of Appeals properly denied. (App. 2)

C. Restatement of the Case.

The following procedural history shows the lack of diligence exercised by petitioner in his pursuit of review of the final parenting plan for the parties' young sons, and his failure to comply with the Court's orders that finally caused the Court of Appeal to dismiss his appeal:

On March 15, 2021, after a 7-day trial, the trial court entered a final parenting plan for the parties' young sons, then ages 2 and 3, providing petitioner with four out of fourteen overnights, after the trial court found that petitioner has a history of domestic violence and engaged in the abusive use of conflict. (App. 22-23, 25) Notwithstanding the petitioner's self-serving description of his parental role (Petition 4), the trial court found that during the marriage the respondent was the "primary parent when she was not at work. Even when at work, she performed primary parent duties." (App. 43) The trial court also rejected petitioner's complaints about respondent's parenting that petitioner repeats in this Court (Petition 4, 8), finding that "the father obsessively and unreasonabl[y] complained about the mother's conduct as it related to COVID-19 precautions." (App. 42) The trial court further found that "the mother exercises appropriate judgment with the children, whereas the father has not always exercised appropriate judgment." (App. 43)

If petitioner wished to appeal the parenting plan, he was required to file his notice of appeal in the trial court by April 14, 2021. RAP 5.1(a); RAP 5.2(a). Petitioner did not file a notice of appeal in the trial court until June 2, 2021—49 days after it was required to be filed under RAP 5.2(a). (App. 3) Even though petitioner had been instructed by the Court of Appeals to file a motion for extension to file his untimely notice, petitioner waited 22 days before filing the

motion. Over respondent's objection, and due to the COVID-19 public health emergency, the Court of Appeals granted petitioner's motion to enlarge the time to file a notice of appeal on June 30, 2021. (App. 63)

On July 30, 2021, petitioner filed his statement of arrangements. Petitioner then filed an amended statement of arrangements on August 11, 2021. Based on the earlier filed statement, the report of proceedings had to be filed with the Court by September 28, 2021, pursuant to RAP 9.5(a). However, petitioner did not pay the transcriptionist until after September 8, 2021, even though the transcriptionist stated she would not start work until paid. (*See* Petition Appendix, September 8, 2021 email)

After the transcriptionist was paid, petitioner sought, and was granted multiple extensions to file the report of proceedings, on October 4, 2021 (App. 64); October 20, 2021 (App. 65); and November 3, 2021. (App. 66) The Court's ruling on November 3, 2021, required petitioner to file the report of proceedings by November 12, 2021, stating that there will be "[n]o further extensions." (App. 66) The report of proceedings was not filed by November 12, 2021, nor in its place did petitioner request an extension or provide any written reason for the report of proceedings not being filed when ordered.

When the report of proceedings was not filed on November 12, 2021, the Court issued a ruling on November 29, recognizing both petitioner and the transcriptionist's obligation to comply with its orders, noting that "[n]either Appellant Anthony Lombardo nor Transcriptionist Julie Thompson has provided any explanation for the failure to comply with their previously requested extension of time." (App. 67) The Court ruled that if "the report of proceedings or a proper motion for extension based on good cause is not filed by December 3, 2021, sanctions of \$250 may be imposed against Thompson and/or Lombardo." (App. 67) The report of proceedings was not filed by December 3, 2021, nor did petitioner file a "proper motion for extension of time based on good cause," as ordered.

On December 15, 2021, respondent filed a motion to dismiss the appeal for petitioner's failure to timely prosecute his appeal. In response to this motion, petitioner requested his purported fourth and "final transcription extension request," requesting until December 30, 2021 to file the report of proceedings.

On December 17, 2021, the Court again noted both petitioner and the transcriptionist's obligation to comply with its orders, stating that "neither Lombardo nor Thomson identifies any good cause for their failure to at a minimum file a motion for extension by December 3, 2021." (App. 68) The Court ruled that if "the report of proceedings is not filed by December 30, 2021, this case will be dismissed without further notice of this Court." (App. 68) Despite this warning, petitioner did not seek court intervention when the transcriptionist failed to file the report of proceedings by December 30, 2021. Five weeks passed before the Court, on February 7, 2022, finally dismissed the appeal, considering it "abandoned." (App. 1) Even after the Commissioner dismissed his appeal on February 7, 2022—as petitioner was warned would happen—petitioner waited until March 7, 2022 to file a motion to modify. A panel of judges of the Court of Appeals denied petitioner's motion on May 3, 2022. (App. 2) Thirty-five days later, petitioner filed his petition for review in this Court.

D. Argument Why Review Should Be Denied.

This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals decision dismissing petitioner's appeal. The Court's decision enforcing its own orders "to secure the fair and orderly review of a case" under RAP 7.3, and sanctioning a party under RAP 18.9 by dismissing an appeal, does not involve an "issue of substantial public interest," and does not raise a significant question of law under the constitution. RAP 13.4(b). This Court should deny review.

1. The Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion to dismiss the appeal as a sanction for petitioner's disregard of its orders.

The Court of Appeals has inherent authority to manage their calendar and docket, including the power to dismiss a case as a sanction for violations of court rules, orders, and calendar settings. *See State v. Ralph Williams' N. W. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc.*, 87 Wn.2d 298, 310, 553 P.2d 423 (1976) ("we note that an appellate court possesses the inherent power to dismiss an appeal when a party disobeys certain trial court order").

In addition, appellate courts have express authority to dismiss an appeal for failure to comply with the court's orders. RAP 7.3 authorizes appellate courts to make orders "to secure the fair and orderly review of a case," including conditioning "a party's right to participate further in the review on compliance with terms of an order or ruling." RAP 18.9(a); *see als*o RCW 2.28.010 ("every court of justice has power . . . to provide for the orderly conduct of proceedings before it . . . to compel obedience to its judgments, decrees, orders and process"). If a party fails to comply with the court's orders, RAP 18.9(b) grants the court authority to dismiss the appeal.

Whether to dismiss an appeal ordinarily "rests within the sound discretion of the court hearing the motion." *State v. Ashbaugh*, 90 Wn.2d 432, 439, 583 P.2d 1206 (1978); *see also Apostolis v. City of Seattle*, 101 Wn. App. 300, 304, 3 P.3d 198 (2000) ("dismissing a case for noncompliance with court orders or rules is reviewed for abuse of discretion"). A reviewing court should be wary of "unwarranted interference" with the lower court's functions in managing its own docket. *State ex rel. Frank v. Bunge*, 16 Wn.2d 358, 361, 133 P.2d 515 (1943). Here, after granting multiple extensions of time for petitioner to file the report of proceedings, the Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion to dismiss petitioner's appeal for failure to comply with its orders. RAP 18.9(b). Even though it is the transcriptionist who must ultimately complete transcription of the report of proceedings for it to be filed, petitioner maintained his own obligation to comply with its orders.

By simply ignoring court-ordered deadlines, allowing them to pass, and only taking action when forced to do so, petitioner willfully violated the Court's orders. *See Magana v. Hyundai Motor Am.*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 584, ¶ 25, 220 P.3d 191 (2009) ("A party's disregard of a court order without reasonable excuse or justification is deemed willful"). As the Court of Appeals recognized, the petitioner also violated its orders by failing to "at a minimum file a motion for extension" (App. 68) or "provide any written explanation for the delay" (App. 1) by the date the report of proceedings was ordered to be filed. Petitioner's simple disregard of the Court's order by taking no action is itself a violation.

For instance, when the report of proceedings was not filed by October 22, 2021 (his second requested extension), petitioner did nothing, waiting 11 days before requesting his purported "final transcription deadline request." When the report of proceedings was not filed by November 12, 2021 (his third requested extension), petitioner again did nothing, waiting 34 days, until December 16, 2021, before requesting another purported "final transcription deadline request." Even then, petitioner only acted *after* the Court already found that he had failed to "provide[] any explanation for the failure to comply with their previously requested extension of time to November 12, 2021." (See App. 67)

When the report of proceedings was still not filed by December 30, 2021 (his fourth requested extension),

petitioner again did nothing during the five weeks between the date the report of proceedings was ordered to be filed and February 7, 2022, when the Court finally dismissed his appeal. As the Court stated, "[a]s of this ruling (February 7, 2022), neither the report of proceedings or any written explanation for the delay has been filed since the December 17 ruling." (App. 1)

Because petitioner failed to comply with the Court's orders, and made only the minimal effort to maintain his appeal, the Court of Appeals properly exercised its discretion under the express authority given it under RAP 18.9(b), and dismissed the appeal. The only issue of "substantial public interest" implicated by the Court's decision is the one that recognizes that "extended litigation can be harmful to children," and "the emotional and financial interests" affected by parenting decisions are "best served by finality." *Parentage of Jannot*, 149 Wn.2d 123, 127, 65 P.3d 664 (2003). By dismissing the appeal

when it has unnecessarily been dragged out by petitioner's failure to comply with the Court's orders, the Court provided the parties' young sons the "finality" they deserve.

2. The Court of Appeals did not deprive the petitioner of access to the courts.

The Court of Appeals did not violate petitioner's constitutional rights by dismissing his appeal. While a *criminal* defendant has a constitutional right to appeal, requiring "any waiver of that right via the alleged abandonment of an appeal . . . be knowing, intelligent, and voluntarily," *Ashbaugh*, 90 Wn.2d at 438-39 (Petition 10), this is a *civil* case. No comparable constitutional right to appeal in civil cases exists. *City of Bremerton v. Spears*, 134 Wn.2d 141, 148, 949 P.2d 347 (1998).

Due process requires notice, a reasonable right of access to the courts, or a meaningful opportunity to be heard. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 224, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992); *Yurtis v. Phipps*, 143 Wn. App. 680, 694, ¶ 34, 181 P.3d 849, *rev. denied*, 164 Wn.2d 1037 (2008). However, "an implicit requirement of access to the court system is that the litigation must proceed in good faith and comply with the court rules." *Yurtis,* 143 Wn. App. at 694, ¶ 35. Therefore, even if petitioner had a constitutional right to appeal, the Court of Appeals did not abridge that right when it provided petition with notice in its December 17, 2021 ruling that his appeal would be dismissed if the report of proceeding was not filed by December 30, 2021. Further, petitioner has exercised his right of access to the courts and his opportunity to be heard on multiple occasions.

Just as a pro se litigant cannot "excuse his noncompliance of the rules by claiming ignorance of them" *State v. Sullivan*, 143 Wn.2d 162, 187, 19 P.3d 1012 (2001), petitioner here cannot excuse his non-compliance with the Court's orders by claiming ignorance when specifically warned of the repercussions for such non-compliance. By failing to comply with the Court's orders, petitioner did not act in good faith, and the Court of Appeals properly dismissed his appeal.

E. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review.

I certify that this brief is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 2,402 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).